IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO	
In re Detention of Duane Brennan,	
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	
Respondent,	
v.	
DUANE BRENNAN,	
Appellant.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY	
The Honorable Toni A. Sheldon, Judge	
`	
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

JENNIFER M. WINKLER Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The order requiring the appellant to submit to precommitment penile plethysmograph (PPG) testing violated the appellant's privacy and due process rights.
- 2. The court erred in entering finding of fact 3, conclusion of law 2, and in ordering the appellant to submit PPG testing. CP 14.1
- 3. Counsel was ineffective for agreeing to pre-commitment testing without the statutorily-required judicial oversight.
- 4. The court erred in finding the appellant in contempt for failing to submit to the unlawful order.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. RCW 71.09.050(1), amended in 2012, now provides that following a probable cause finding and before a commitment trial, a superior court judge "may require" a 71.09 RCW respondent "to complete any or all of the following procedures or tests if requested by the evaluator: (a) A clinical interview; (b) psychological testing; (c) plethysmograph testing; and (d) polygraph testing." RCW 71.09.050(1). PPG testing interferes with the fundamental rights of a 71.09 RCW respondent. Interference with a fundamental right is constitutionally

¹ The court's written "Order Compelling Physiological Testing" is attached as Appendix A. CP 13-15. The court's oral ruling is attached as Appendix B. RP 19-21.

permissible only if the State can show that a compelling interest, and such interference is narrowly tailored to that interest.

Where the appellant demonstrated that PPG testing is widely regarded as unreliable in a forensic setting, and that the State had alternative, less intrusive means of evaluating the appellant for 71.09 RCW commitment criteria, did the court violate the appellant's constitutional rights in ordering him to undergo pre-commitment PPG testing?

- 2. Counsel for the appellant entered into an agreement stipulating to probable cause and stating any further evaluation "may include any of the following procedures or tests *if requested by the State's expert*." Supp. CP 27 (emphasis added). Rather than tracking statutory language, the agreement inadvertently removed judicial oversight. Where the appellant can demonstrate there was no legitimate strategic purpose for such an agreement, and where the court relied in part on the appellant's prior agreement to order PPG testing, did the agreement constitute ineffective assistance?
- 3. Where the contempt order was based on an order that violated the appellant's due process rights, should this Court vacate the order of contempt as well?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On November 30, 2012, the State filed a petition to commit 32-year-old Duane Brennan under 71.09 RCW. RCW 71.09.020(18) (defining who may be committed); CP 138-39. At the time the petition was filed, Brennan was serving a Department of Corrections (DOC) sentence for two 2001 convictions for first degree child molestation, each a "sexually violent offense" under RCW 71.09.020(17). CP 138. The State also asserted Brennan suffered from mental abnormalities including pedophilia and anti-social personality disorder (APD), as diagnosed by the State's evaluator, Dr. Amy Phenix. RCW 71.09.020(8), (9); CP 138. The State alleged these conditions led Brennan to have serious difficulty controlling his behavior and made him "likely" to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility. RCW 71.09.020(7), (18); CP 138-39.

The State concurrently filed a certification for determination of probable cause listing the details of the 2001 offenses. CP 71-73; RCW 71.09.040(2). In 2001, Brennan was a babysitter for a seven-year-old boy and a nine-year-old boy. Two 10-year-old neighbor girls visited the boys' home. Brennan encouraged the boys to engage in sexual activity with the girls. In addition, Brennan attempted to have sex with the first girl. He also licked her vagina and had her put her mouth on his penis. CP 72. The

second girl reported Brennan touched her vagina and had her put her hand down his pants. The second girl's brother saw Brennan appear to have sex with her. Brennan pled guilty to the charges and later admitted to some of the acts forming the basis for the charges. CP 73.

According to the probable cause certification, Brennan said he had additional victims in the same age range and stated a sexual preference for nine- to 14-year-old girls. CP 74. Brennan refused treatment in the DOC's Sexual Offender Treatment Program and told a program employee he believed he would offend again if released to the community. CP 74, 137; see also CP 117-18, 121-22, 124, 126, 137 (disclosures to Dr. Phenix and prior evaluator, Dr. John Hupka, as reported in Dr. Phenix's 2012 evaluation). In a 2012 clinical interview, Brennan also told Dr. Phenix he normally masturbated to fantasies of 13- to 17-year-old girls, or women who appeared that age, but also masturbated to fantasies of pre-pubescent girls about 10 to 15 percent of the time. CP 117.

Based in part on the foregoing, Dr. Phenix concluded Brennan met the 71.09 RCW commitment criteria. CP 74-77, 123-37. Dr. Phenix also relied on Brennan's history of childhood behavior issues, his criminal history, and his behavior while incarcerated. CP 125-26 (factors supporting APD diagnosis).

On December 3, 2012, Brennan signed a "Stipulated Order Affirming the Existence of Probable Cause and Directing the Custodial Detention and Evaluation of Respondent." Supp. CP 26-28. Brennan stipulated there was probable cause to believe he met 71.09 RCW commitment criteria. Supp. CP 28. He also stipulated that:

Consistent with RCW 71.09.050(1), Respondent shall now submit to an evaluation by an expert chosen by the State. The evaluation may include any of the following procedures or tests if requested by the State's expert:

- a. A clinical interview;
- b. Psychological testing
- c. Penile plethysmograph testing (PPG);
- d. Polygraph testing; and
- e. Any other testing by the State's expert.

Supp. CP 27 (emphasis added).

A commitment trial was originally set for early 2013, but Brennan waived his right to a speedy trial, and the court granted a continuance until January of 2014. CP 62, 69-70.

On January 8, 2014, however, the parties agreed to a continuance, CP 61, and provided the court the following information:

Brennan had reported to his expert witness, Dr. Brian Abbott, that he had exaggerated his interest in children and the number of child victims to Dr. Phenix and to Dr. Hupka, who interviewed Brennan in 2011. CP 63. Dr. Phenix's evaluation cites and relies on a number of Brennan's statements to Hupka. E.g. CP 117-18, 122, 124. Brennan told Dr. Abbott that, in fact, he did not experience the "thoughts, urges, or behaviors" concerning prepubescent children that he previously reported. He also told Dr. Abbott that he did not, in reality, have a number of unadjudicated victims. He did not believe he would reoffend if released to the community. CP 64. Brennan made the earlier statements because he had been incarcerated most of his adolescence and adulthood and feared release to the community without resources. CP 63-64.

Following Brennan's disavowal of his prior claims, Dr. Phenix reinterviewed Brennan, who confirmed he had indeed fabricated his original statements to Phenix and Hupka. Supp. CP 3. Dr. Phenix contacted the State to request that Brennan be subjected to physiological testing, including a PPG and a sexual history polygraph. CP 65; Supp. CP 3. Brennan, however, declined to participate in such testing. Supp. CP 3.

On June 16, 2014 the State filed a motion and supporting memorandum to require Brennan to engage in the requested physiological testing with an attached declaration from Dr. Phenix. Supp. CP 3, 14-19. The declaration repeats Brennan's earlier admissions regarding the subject of his fantasies, his past victims, and his belief he would reoffend if

released. Supp. CP 15. Dr. Phenix notes that after re-interviewing Brennan in 2013 she determined "a sexual history polygraph as well as a [PPG] test battery would be appropriate to verify and/or clarify the sexual history previously reported by Mr. Brennan." Supp. CP 16. Moreover, it would help her form an opinion about Brennan's "mental state, sexual history and attitudes, and sexual arousal patterns." Supp. CP 17. Further, Dr. Phenix believed that under the law, the State had the right to a "current evaluation" following a probable cause finding. In addition, Brennan had agreed to engage in physiological testing including a PPG or polygraph testing if requested by an evaluator. Supp. CP 16.

Dr. Phenix also asserted she had an "ethical duty" to ensure her evaluation was complete and accurate via the use of such testing. According to Dr. Phenix, such testing was commonly used and accepted within the "sexual offender field" for the assessment and treatment of sexual offenders and was "endorsed as a part of a comprehensive sexual evaluation by various agencies and sexual offender organizations." Supp. CP 17. Further, a PPG could evaluate whether Brennan experienced deviant sexual arousal by measuring his responses to a variety of sexual stimuli. This would, in turn, be useful in determining whether he suffered from a mental abnormality. This would also aid in determining the risk of

reoffense, given the link between deviant arousal and re-offense risk. Supp. CP 17.

Dr. Phenix also requested a post-PPG polygraph to detect any attempt to manipulate PPG test results. Supp. CP 18. Moreover, she asserted counsel should not be in the room for the testing, as it could invalidate results. She also asserted Brennan should not be informed of the PPG test in advance so he would be unable to preemptively alter his ability to respond to stimuli. Supp. CP 18-19.

Brennan filed a response arguing such testing was unreliable, unnecessary, and violated substantive due process. CP 16-38. He attached a declaration from Dr. Abbott. CP 40-49. In the declaration, Dr. Abbott noted that while PPG testing was accepted for use in a treatment setting, it was not generally considered "reliable" for purposes of forensic evaluation of sex offenders. CP 41, 47.

The measure of reliability is the comparison of two tests ("test/retest reliability") and is measured on a scale of 0 (fails to measure sexual interests) to 1.0 (accounts for all sexual interests). CP 41. If the test were reliable, two test results would be expected to be similar. Subtracting the reliability value from 1.0 reflects the error involved in the measurement. CP 41. The single study involving a PPG used on child

molesters revealed a 47 per cent error rate. CP 42. This falls below the accepted standard of reliability, or .80. CP 42.

Further, Dr. Abbott questioned the "validity" of PPG results, that is, whether a test measures what it purports to measure, in this case deviant vs. non-deviant sexual interests. He noted that no studies demonstrated the link between PPG results and a mental abnormality (a legal, not a psychological, concept), a diagnosis of pedophilia, or sexual recidivism risk. CP 43. Dr. Abbott also observed that the actuarial instruments Dr. Phenix relied on, the Static-99R and the Static-2002R, accounted for deviancy in other ways, and consideration of additional variables (such as PPG results) did not increase the instruments' powers of prediction. CP 44-45. Another study had shown that sexual preference as measured by a PPG is not "significantly predictive of sexual recidivism," and thus two prominent researchers omitted PPG results from their Violence Risk Appraisal Guide – Revised, which replaced the prior the Sex Offender Risk Appraisal Guide (SORAG). CP 45.

Finally, while Dr. Phenix claimed an ethical duty to ensure her evaluation was as complete and accurate as possible, this ignored that current standards promulgated by the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA) did not support use of PPG in forensic

evaluations. CP 46.² Moreover, Dr. Abbott opined that American Psychological Association guidelines actually *prohibited* the use of PPG testing for such purposes on ethical grounds given the questionable reliability of the testing. CP 48.

The court held a hearing on June 30, 2014. Brennan's counsel argued PPGs were unreliable as a test for sexual deviancy and the actuarial instruments already had a means of identifying, and considering, sexual deviancy without resorting to unreliable PPG results. RP 8, 12, 15. Counsel acknowledged a case relied on by the State, In re Detention of Halgren, approved expert testimony regarding PPG results under ER 703 (facts or data, if of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions, need not be admissible in evidence). But in Halgren, the PPG results were obtained during earlier treatment, an acceptable milieu, and not for the purpose of forensic evaluation. RP 11. In contrast, as set forth in Dr. Abbott's declaration, PPG results were unreliable in a forensic setting. RP 11.

In its oral ruling, the court ordered Brennan to submit to testing on the sole ground that he had previously agreed to the testing. Rather than

² <u>Compare</u> Supp. CP 6 (State's memorandum to require physiological testing citing ATSA's 2005 practice standards) <u>with</u> Dr. Abbott's declaration (citing ATSA's 2014 practice standards).

³ 156 Wn.2d 795, 805, 132 P.3d 714 (2006).

inviting additional judicial oversight for the testing, the stipulated order was "self-executing," meaning Brennan had signed an agreement to submit to whatever testing the State's evaluator wished. RP 19-21. The court's written order also noted that Dr. Phenix had requested the testing and found that "such information is routinely relied upon" by mental health professionals in conducting [71.09 RCW commitment] evaluations for purposes of assessing sexual preferences and assessing risk." CP 13-14 (Finding 3). The court therefore found "good cause" to require Brennan to submit to testing. CP 14 (Finding 3).

The court concluded that "RCW 71.09.050(1) grants [the State] the right to a current evaluation and specifically authorizes the Court to order . . . physiological testing if requested by the evaluator, which can include PPG . . . and polygraph testing." CP 14 (Conclusion 2). The court reserved ruling on any contempt finding so Brennan could decide whether to participate voluntarily. RP 30.

At a hearing a week later, defense counsel informed the court Brennan would not submit to testing and argued the stipulation purportedly agreeing to testing was contrary to RCW 71.09.050(1), which required court approval for such testing. RP 34-36, 38; see RCW 71.09.050(1) ("the judge *may* require the person to complete any or all of the following procedures or tests if requested by the evaluator.")

The court, however, declined to reconsider its ruling. RP 36-37. The court also found Brennan was in contempt and, as a sanction for failure to comply, stayed trial while he remained at the Special Commitment Center (SCC). RP 38-40. The court ruled Brennan could purge his contempt by completing the testing. RP 40; CP 10-12.

Brennan timely appealed the contempt order as well as the underlying order requiring him to submit to testing.⁴ CP 2-9.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE ORDER REQUIRING BRENNAN TO SUBMIT TO PRE-COMMITMENT PPG TESTING VIOLATES HIS SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS AND PRIVACY RIGHTS UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The court ruled that RCW 71.09.050(1), as well as Brennan's agreement to such testing, authorized testing upon request by a State's evaluator. CP 14 (Conclusion 2); RP 19-21. But as Brennan demonstrated below, and as a number of courts and commentators have observed, PPG testing is widely regarded as unreliable in a forensic setting. Moreover, the State has alternative, less intrusive means of evaluating Brennan for 71.09 RCW commitment criteria. In failing to recognize its own discretion under the statue and in failing to apply the

⁴ <u>See Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Council</u>, 165 Wn. App. 59, 71 n.4, 265 P.3d 956 (2011) (contempt order and underlying order are appealable of right) (citing RCW 7.21.070).

statute in a way that satisfied Brennan's due process rights, the court's order violated the statute as well as Brennan's constitutional rights.

In entering the order, moreover, the court substantially relied on Brennan's prior agreement to engage in such testing. Counsel entered into an agreement stipulating to probable cause and stating any further evaluation "may include any of the following procedures or tests *if* requested by the State's expert." Supp. CP 27 (emphasis added). The agreement did not track the language of the statute, but inexplicably removed judicial oversight with no discernable strategic purpose. Because the court relied in part in the agreement to order such testing, counsel's illadvised entry into such an agreement constituted ineffective assistance.

a. Chapter 71.09 RCW grants a judge discretion as to whether to order pre-trial physiological testing.

Under RCW 71.09.050(1), within 45 days after the completion of the probable cause hearing, the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the person should be committed. "The prosecuting agency shall have a right to a current evaluation of the person by experts chosen by the state." RCW 71.09.050(1).

The court "may require" the 71.09 RCW respondent "to complete any or all of the following procedures or tests if requested by the evaluator: (a) A clinical interview; (b) psychological testing; (c)

plethysmograph testing; and (d) polygraph testing." RCW 71.09.050(1). ⁵ The statute's plain language, while allowing for such testing, leaves the decision to the judge to determine whether such testing is required. See State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) (rule's use of the word "may" denotes judicial discretion). A court's failure to exercise discretion is an abuse of discretion. In re Detention of Mines, 165 Wn. App. 112, 125, 266 P.3d 242, 248 (2011) (quoting Bowcutt v. Delta N. Star Corp., 95 Wn. App. 311, 320, 976 P.2d 643 (1999). Here, the court abused its discretion by failing to recognize its discretion and in concluding the statute alone authorized any testing requested by the State's expert. CP 14 (Conclusion 2). As discussed below, under the circumstances of this case, the order to permit such testing violated Brennan's due process and privacy rights.

b. PPG testing is highly invasive and has been described as "Orwellian."

The statute lists the types of testing a court may order if requested by the State's evaluator. PPG testing is not, however, a "run of the mill

⁵ In <u>In re Detention of Hawkins</u>, 169 Wn.2d 796, 805, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010), the Supreme Court held that former RCW 71.09.040 prohibited the State from compelling 71.09 RCW respondents to submit to polygraph examinations. In 2012, however, the legislature amended RCW 71.09.040 and .050 to explicitly provide for polygraph and other physiological testing. Laws of 2012, ch. 257, §§ 4, 5 (eff. July 1, 2012). The <u>Hawkins</u> court did not address the constitutional claims raised herein.

medical procedure." <u>United States v. Weber</u>, 451 F.3d 552, 562 (9th Cir. 2006). The examination requires procedures that courts have generously described as "intrusive," <u>United States v. McLaurin</u>, 731 F.3d 258, 262-63 (2d Cir.2013), and "especially unpleasant and offensive," <u>Berthiaume v. Caron</u>, 142 F.3d 12, 16 (1st Cir.1998). The description of the procedure is one which "one would expect to find . . . gracing the pages of a George Orwell novel." <u>Weber</u>, 451 F.3d at 554.

The testing involves placing a mercury strain gauge around a man's penis. State v. Riles, 135 Wn.2d 326, 343 n.57, 957 P.2d 655 (1998). The test subject is then "instructed to become fully aroused, either via self-stimulation or by the presentation of so-called 'warm-up stimuli' in order to derive a baseline against which to compare later erectile measurements." Jason R. Odeshoo, Of Penology And Perversity: The Use of Penile Plethysmography on Convicted Child Sex Offenders, 14 Temp. Pol. & Civ. Rts. L. Rev. 1, 9 (2004). "After the individual has returned to a state of detumescence," he is presented with various "stimulus materials, auditory and visual, encouraging him to think about and look at materials indicative of sexual activity with different ages of people, different genders and different sexual activities." Odeshoo, supra, at 9; Riles, 135 Wn.2d at 343 n. 57 (quoting State v. King, 130 Wn.2d 517, 545 n. 13, 925 P.2d 606 (1996) (Sanders, J., dissenting)). Some of the scenarios

presented are extremely violent and disturbing. RP 10. The gauge then is used to "determine the man's level of sexual attraction by measuring minute changes in his erectile responses." Odeshoo, <u>supra</u>, at 2. One commentator has persuasively described the procedure as more invasive than body cavity or strip searches:

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