COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Duane Brennan,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DUANE BRENNAN,

Appellant.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

BROOKE BURBANK ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL WSBA #26680 / OID #91094 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 389-3017

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

the very testing that can validate his admissions that he is mentally ill and dangerous and appropriate for civil commitment.

3. PPG Testing Complies With Due Process

Brennan argues that PPG testing is "Orwellian" and "shocks the conscience." Opening Brief at 14. The use of such examinations during sex offender evaluations, however, is a routine and accepted practice. SUPP CP at 16-18. Physiological tests such as the penile plethysmograph can provide information that is relevant to the questions posed to an SVP evaluator. *See e.g. In re the Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 806, 132 P.3d 714 (2006).

The use of a sexual history polygraph as part of a sex offender evaluation is endorsed by the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA). ATSA is an international organization consisting of mental health professionals who engage in evaluating and treating sex offenders. *See http://www.atsa.com*. The guidelines for ATSA indicate that "research-supported assessment methods such as phallometry [PPGs] ... may be useful for (a) obtaining objective behavioral data about the client that may not be established through other assessment means; [and] (b) exploring the reliability of client self-report[.]" *See ATSA Practice Guidelines* (2014) at 26. The guidelines also state that PPG testing provides "objective information about male sexual arousal and is therefore

useful for identifying atypical sexual interests[.]" *ATSA Practice Guidelines* at 70. Additionally, there is substantial support in the scientific literature for the use of a PPG as part of a sex offender evaluation. ⁴ A PPG

⁴ See e.g., G. Woodworth & J. Kadane, Expert Testimony Supporting Post-Sentence Civil Incarceration of Violent Sexual Offenders, 3 Law, Probability, & Risk 211, 229 (2004) ("The single best predictor [of risk] was phallometric assessment of deviant sexual preference."); M. Carter, K. Bumby & T. Talbot, Promoting Offender Accountability and Community Safety through the Comprehensive Approach to Sex Offender Management, 34 Seton Hall L.Rev. 1273, 1285 (2004) ("psychosexual assessments may incorporate the use of psychophysiological measures (e.g., penile plethysmography, viewing time) to assess objectively the presence of deviant sexual arousal, preference, and interest."); D. Doren, Evaluating Sex Offenders at 46 (2002) ("The potential utility of PPG results is in both the diagnostic and risk assessment portions of the evaluation. Deviant sexual interests can be interpreted as clear support for a paraphilic diagnosis, Likewise . . , there seems significant reason to believe that deviant PPG results are meaningful when assessing the risk for sexual recidivism."); R. Hamill, Recidivism of Sex Offenders: What You Need to Know, 15 Criminal Justice 24, 29 (ABA 2001) (citing 1996 and 1998 studies by R. Hanson and M. Bussiere that showed "plethysmographic preference for children" as having the strongest predictive value among 21 factors for predicting sexual recidivism.); R. Schopp, M. Scalora & M. Pearce, Expert Testimony and Professional Judgment: Psychological Expertise and Commitment as a Sexual Predator after Hendricks, 5 Psychology, Public Policy & Law 120, 135 (1999) ("Deviant sexual preferences, as measured through plethysmographic assessment, increase the probability of recidivism."); J. Bailey & A. Greenburg, The Science and Ethics of Castration: Lessons from the Morse Case, 92 Nw. U.L.Rev. 1225, 1226 (1998) ("Paraphilias can often be assessed via penile plethysmography."); G. Harris, M. Rice & V. Ouinsey, The Science in Phallometric Measurement of Male Sexual Interest, 5 Current Directions in Psychological Science 156-160, 159 (1996) ("Phallometry is the best available scientific measure of men's sexual preferences. . . . "); R. Langevin & R.J. Watson, Major Factors in the Assessment of Paraphilics and Sex Offenders, in Sex Offender Treatment: Biological Dysfunction, Intraphyschic Conflict, Interpersonal Violence 42 (1996) ("plethysmography is one of the most reliable and valid physiological measures available. . . . [and is] in a league of its own."); W. Pithers & D. Laws, Phallometric Assessment in The Sex Offender: Collections, Treatment and Legal Practice, 12-2 (1995) ("Phallometry is an essential technology in the assessment and treatment of the sexual aggressor. . . . [A]ny restrictions imposed on a specially trained clinician's ability to employ phallometry in assessing and treating sex offenders would be analogous to depriving a physician the right to obtain x-rays in cases of bone injuries." [internal citation omitted]); R. Wettstein, A Psychiatric Perspective on Washington's Sexually Violent Predator Statute, 15 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 597, 610 (1992) (recommending plethysmography as part of the evaluation of sex offenders); and B. Maletzky, Treating the Sexual Offender at 31 (1991) ("erectile responses via the penile plethysmograph have assumed the leading if not definitive role in present-day assessment of deviant sexual arousal.").

can establish the presence or absence of deviant sexual preferences in sex offenders, particularly against child victims, as is the case with Brennan.⁵ In addition, sexual deviance was found to have the highest association with sexual recidivism in a meta-analysis of several risk factors.⁶

The PPG and polygraph are both methods routinely used by mental health professionals to conduct SVP evaluations. SUPP CP at 18. ATSA has issued standards for evaluating sex offenders, which provide that an evaluation may include physiological assessments.

Likewise, the Washington Supreme Court has held that the results of a plethysmograph are admissible as part of an expert's opinion in SVP proceedings. *In re the Detention of Michael Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 805-07, 132 P.2d 714 (2006). In *Halgren*, the State's expert, relied upon the results of a plethysmograph done by another expert. The plethysmograph results showed that Halgren "was twice as aroused by depictions of violent rape than by depictions of adults engaged in consensual sexual behavior." *Id.* The expert was allowed to tell the jury at the commitment trial that the plethysmograph results formed part of the

⁵ Michaud, P. & Proulx, J. "Penile-Response Profiles of Sexual Aggressors During Phallometric Testing." Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 21:3, 308-334 (2009) (The authors cite 16 additional studies supporting the finding that plethysmograph testing is particularly affective on offenders with child victims).

⁶ Hanson, R.K. & Morton-Bourgon, K.E. "The Characteristics of Persistent Sexual Offenders: A Meta-analysis of Recidivism Studies." Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology (2005), 73:6, 1154-1163.

basis of his opinion that Halgren suffered from a mental abnormality. *Id.* at 806.

On appeal, Halgren argued that the testimony regarding the plethysmograph violated Frye, ER 403, and ER 702. The Supreme Court rejected these arguments, holding that plethysmograph results were not subject to a Frye analysis because the plethysmograph has been accepted for purposes of diagnosis and no new method of proof or scientific evidence is at issue. Id. 156 Wn.2d at 807. The court rejected the ER 702 and 403 challenges as well, finding that the plethysmograph "could be helpful to the jury under ER 702 by assisting the jurors in understanding [the expert]'s sexual deviancy diagnosis. . . . [A]ny potential prejudice to Halgren was outweighed by the relevance of the evidence and because Halgren had an opportunity to attack the weight of this evidence through cross-examination." Id. The court commented that criticism from some quarters regarding the PPG go the weight, and not the admissibility, of the evidence. Id. The Washington Supreme Court has found the results of a PPG sufficiently reliable to be presented to a jury, thus Brennan's argument that PPGs are not reliable enough for an expert to request one must fail.

In support of his argument that use of the PPG violates his liberty interests, Brennan cites cases regarding PPGs in criminal cases and

dissolution proceedings. None of these cases are helpful, however, in that none are SVP cases in which the individual has repeatedly lied to the evaluator about his sexual deviancy and in which the evaluator, in response, reasonably sought physiological testing to verify his statements. And none of the cited cases involve a controlling statute that specifically authorizes the testing.

Brennan primarily relies on *United States v. Weber*, 451 F.3d 552 (9th Cir. 2006) in support of his argument. *Weber*, however, did not hold PPG testing unconstitutional. The *Weber* court merely decided that before PPG testing can be imposed as a term of supervised release in a criminal case, the trial court must make an individualized determination that the testing is necessary. *Id.* at 569–70. Furthermore, *Weber* acknowledges that PPG testing "has become routine in the treatment of sexual offenders and is often imposed as a condition of supervised release." 451 F.3d at 554 Moreover, here the trial court did make an individualized determination that the testing was necessary, based primarily on Brennan's own conduct.

The trial court determined that the requested testing was routinely relied on by mental health professionals conducting such evaluations, CP at 14, Finding of Fact 3, and that the state had demonstrated good cause to compel it here. CP at 14. Trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence. *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 351, 77

P.3d 1174 (2003). Substantial evidence is "a quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person the premise is true." *Sunnvside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). An appellate court cannot substitute its judgment for the trial court's regarding conflicting evidence or the credibility of witnesses. *In re Marriage of Rich*, 80 Wn. App. 252, 259, 907 P.2d 1234 (1996).

Here, where Brennan's truthfulness has been put at issue by his own statements, Dr. Phenix is simply attempting steps to verify (or disprove) her initial opinion. The trial court found that she was well within the generally accepted practice. The court's order compelling him to submit to a PPG should be affirmed.

4. Various controls were requested to limit the likelihood of erroneous results

Brennan cites to "user manipulation" as evidence that use of the PPG in a forensic setting violates his right to due process. Opening Brief at 23. Although admission of the results at trial is not relevant for purposes of this motion,⁷ Brennan's arguments are more appropriate for cross examination of Dr. Phenix, not whether or not there is good cause to order a PPG.

⁷ Brennan argues numerous points about the PPG that are relevant to the question of admissibility of PPG results, not whether the court has the authority to order them. The trial court expressly declined to rule on the admissibility of any test result reserving that for trial. CP 14. Consequently, those issues are not before this court.

Furthermore, this is precisely why Dr. Phenix requested not just a PPG, but a polygraph immediately following to ensure that Brennan did not try to manipulate the results of the test. SUPP CP at 18-19. Dr. Phenix specifically requested that PPG testing be conducted in a controlled environment, with follow-up testing to control for any effort to manipulate the test. SUPP CP at 19. To ensure valid results from these procedures, Dr. Phenix also requested that: (1) Brennan not be informed in advance of the PPG and polygraph examinations; (2) Brennan's counsel observe, but not intervene or interfere with the testing; and (3) counsel not be present in the same room as Brennan during the testing, as it would violate testing protocol and could result in unusable results. SUPP CP at 19-20. The procedures requested by Dr. Phenix will provide necessary and relevant information regarding Brennan's current mental state and risk in order to address whether Brennan has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that make him likely to reoffend. SUPP CP 19-20.

"The polygraph exam is integrated into these treatment and supervision practices to verify that the offender is being truthful about his or her past and present harmful behaviors." English et al., *The Value of Polygraph Testing in Sex Offender Treatment* at 14 (2000). Our Supreme Court has recognized the value of polygraph testing in the context of a SVP evaluation. *In re the Detention of Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d 789, 802, 42

P.3d 952, 960 (2002) (noting the positive effect sex offender treatment had on appellant was confirmed by blood tests, polygraph tests, and plethysmograph tests).

It is Dr. Phenix's professional opinion that the requested testing is necessary in order to ensure his evaluation is both comprehensive and current. Because the information that will be provided by the physiological testing procedures are central to the issues at trial and specifically enumerated within the SVP statute, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering Brennan to participate.

D. The Court Had Jurisdiction And Authority To Order Brennan To Submit To The Testing, And To Find Him In Contempt When He Willfully Disobeyed

"Contempt of court" is defined by statute and includes intentional disobedience of a lawful court order. RCW 7.21.010. Like a decision granting or denying a motion for relief from a judgment, a decision on a motion for contempt is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Williams*, 156 Wn. App. 22, 28, 232 P.3d 573 (2010). "Whether contempt is warranted in a particular case is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court; unless that discretion is abused, it should not be disturbed on appeal." *King v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 110 Wn.2d 793, 798, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988). Courts will uphold a finding of contempt if they can find any proper basis for it. *Trummel v. Mitchell*, 156 Wn.2d 653, 672,

131 P.3d 305 (2006). "The orderly and expeditious administration of justice by the courts requires that 'an order issued by a court with jurisdiction over the subject matter and person must be obeyed by the parties until it is reversed by orderly and proper proceedings." Maness v. Meyers, 419 U.S. 449, 459, 95 S. Ct. 584, 42 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1975), quoting United States v. United Mine Workers, 330 U.S. 258, 293, 67 S. Ct. 677, 91 L. Ed. 2d 884 (1947). An order is "lawful" if it issues from a court with jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter, even if the order is in error or later invalidated. Deskins v. Waldt, 81 Wn.2d 1, 4-5, 499 P.2d 206 (1972); State v. Breazeale, 99 Wn. App. 400, 413, 994 P.2d 254 (2000), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 144 Wn.2d 829, 31 P.3d 1155 (2001). '(W)here the court has jurisdiction of the parties and of the subject matter of the suit and the legal authority to make the order, a party refusing to obey it, however erroneously made, is liable for contempt.' Mead School Dist. No. 354 v. Mead Ed. Ass'n (MEA), 85 Wn.2d 278, 280, 534 P.2d 561, 563 (1975), citing Dike v. Dike, 75 Wn.2d 1, 8, 448 P.2d 490, 495 (1968). 'The test of the jurisdiction of a court is whether or not it had power to enter upon the inquiry, not whether its conclusion in the course of it was right or wrong.' Mead v. MEA, 75 Wn. 2d at 280 (internal citations omitted.) "A judgment is void only where the court lacks jurisdiction of the parties or the subject matter or lacks the inherent power

to enter the particular order involved." *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 364, 370, 679 P.2d 353, 357 (1984) citing *Bresolin v. Morris*, 86 Wn.2d 241, 245, 543 P.2d 325 (1975). "The contempt order is therefore vitiated where there is 'an absence of jurisdiction to issue the type of order, to address the subject matter, or to bind the defendant ..." *Mead*, at 284, 534 P.2d 561.

Brennan does not challenge the trial court's jurisdiction and authority to enter an order in this proceeding. As such, he has waived any challenge to the order on contempt because those are the only bases for which an order on contempt may be challenged. RAP 10.3(g). Nor does he dispute that he refused to comply with the court's order. He merely asserts that the underlying order was illegal, and argues several reasons why it was "wrongly" entered. Thus, he has no basis to challenge the court's order finding him in contempt, and the court's order should be affirmed.

E. Brennan Did Not Have Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Brennan's arguments regarding the Order on Probable Cause may not be considered because he is prohibited by the collateral bar rule from raising them at this time. "Our 'collateral bar' rule states that a court order cannot be collaterally attacked in contempt proceedings arising from its violation, since a contempt judgment will normally stand even if the order violated was erroneous or was later ruled invalid." *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 364, 369-70, 679 P.2d 353 (1984).

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